

KIRWAN INSTITUTE RESEARCH REPORT

Anchoring Equitable Development

Anchor Institute-Led Models of Housing & Community Development to Strengthen Institutions and Communities



A Case Study Report Prepared for the Jesse Ball duPont Fund September 2015

Jillian Olinger, Jason Reece and Kareem Usher The Kirwan Institute For The Study Of Race & Ethnicity The Ohio State University



KIRWAN INSTITUTE for the Study of Race and Ethnicity

The Kirwan Institute works to create a just and inclusive society where all people and communities have opportunity to succeed.

f E v /KirwanInstitute | www.KirwanInstitute.osu.edu

A Case Study Report Prepared for the Jesse Ball duPont Fund September 2015

Jillian Olinger, Jason Reece and Kareem Usher The Kirwan Institute For The Study Of Race & Ethnicity The Ohio State University

Table of Contents

Introduction4	ŀ
Housing and Community Development Needs	5
Expanding the Circle of Collaborators to Support Housing Equity and Community Development	5
Case #1: Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus OH12	2
Case #2: Washington University Medical Center Redevelopment Corporation, St. Louis MO	2
Case #3: Rochester Area Foundation and Mayo Clinic, Rochester MI31	1
Case #4: The Cleveland Foundation, Cleveland OH	•
Case #5: University of Louisville, Louisville KY	•
Conclusion: Lessons Learned	7
Appendix A: Methodology for Case Studies60)
Appendix B: End Notes and References Cited	2

Introduction

In April 2014, a convening of national housing equity experts was hosted in Jacksonville, Florida by the Jessie Ball duPont Fund. The convening's purpose was to gain insight from national stakeholders on affordable housing and equitable development challenges and opportunities in Jacksonville. From this two-day engagement, a number of major challenges and opportunities facing Jacksonville's housing development were clearly identified. Two of these findings directly inform this research effort.

First, to meet the needs of Jacksonville's marginalized communities, an intentional focus on equity must stay at the forefront of community housing and development strategies. Second, if equity-focused development efforts are better aligned with health and/or educational stakeholders, affordable housing and equitable development could blossom in Jacksonville.

Stable and affordable housing is essential to educational success and positive health outcomes for families and for communities. While the linkage between housing and educational and health outcomes is clear, educational and health stakeholders have not traditionally been deeply engaged in meeting housing need. Emerging initiatives across the country are countering this disengagement, demonstrating the important role that anchor institutions can play in supporting local housing needs. Community anchor institutions, such as educational entities (particularly higher education) and health care organizations can be powerful institutional resources to support equitable housing and community development. Throughout the nation, successful anchor institute-led housing interventions have been transformational in addressing community housing needs and community revitalization. These efforts have been most effective when equity goals are integrated into the design and implementation of anchor institute-led housing efforts.

The following report provides select case studies with a strong social equity focus and comparability to Jacksonville. We identify lessons learned and summarize models which can be equally transformative in Jacksonville from these case studies. We also draw upon recent research and scholarship, and our own interviews with experts and practitioners. The goal of providing these lessons learned and model practices is to help inform, and potentially engage, various anchor institutes in Jacksonville—organizations with resources that could help meet community housing needs and support equitable community development. This could help strengthen social, educational, economic and health outcomes for all of Jacksonville, including its most vulnerable residents.

Housing and Community Development Needs

S ince 2008, housing needs have dramatically escalated throughout the nation. Foreclosures, tight credit, high-priced rental markets, and economic challenges for workers have created tremendous housing burdens, particularly for communities of color and low-wage workers.¹ These challenges persist, despite an emerging national economic recovery. Affordable housing needs have continued to outpace the federal resources available to meet them. For example, the FY2014 appropriations for the Community Development Block Grant program (one of the largest sources of federal funding allocated to states and localities for low-to moderate-income community development) were at one of the lowest funding levels in fifteen years. From FY2000 to FY2014, the average grant allocated to entitlement communities declined by 44%.²

"The financial strain due to housing costs **defers income away from other critical expenses**, such as health care, education, child care, transportation and food"

Both the housing crisis and the recession hit Florida hard. Jacksonville was not spared, and has had a relatively slow recovery. A recent analysis of post-recession economic growth ranked Jacksonville 124th in a 150-city comparison on progress towards economic recovery.³ Analysis by the National Low Income Housing Coalition indicates that a household needs at least \$37,000 in annual income to afford 2-bedroom fair market rent in the Jacksonville region. In Duval County, approximately 37% of all households earn insufficient income to meet this threshold.⁴

The affordable housing challenge is also evidenced by the number of cost-burdened households (those paying more than 35% of their income for housing in Duval County). In 2013 for Duval County, 30% of homeowners with a mortgage and 47% of renters were cost-burdened.⁵ Housing is typically the first expense paid by low- and moderate-income households. The financial strain due to housing costs defers income away from other critical expenses, such as health care, education, child care and children's needs, transportation and food.

Expanding the Circle of Collaborators to Support Housing Equity and Community Development

In the face of these challenges, cities, institutions, and communities have been creative, relying on new partnerships and collaborations to make dollars stretch further and to do more with less. But there is more at stake than leveraging each dollar used to stabilize and revitalize communities: the fates of communities, institutions, and cities are linked. If communities are failing as a result of sustained disinvestment, then cities and their beacon institutions are close behind. Cities and their social, cultural, health and educational institutions rely on a healthy, educated, well-housed and stable workforce (and consumer base) to thrive. We know, from decades of social science research, of the long-term effects that neighborhood conditions can have on people and families. Where you live matters. In fact, the strength of a neighborhood is tied to the health and well-being of its residents, and this relationship is strongest for children. In short, individual and collective neighborhood conditions—whether they facilitate success or hardship—matter for institutions and cities.

"To achieve transformative change in communities requires anchor institutes to adjust business practices and workplace culture **to support this understanding of linked fates**."

What makes an institution an "anchor"?

Although the term "anchor institution" is now commonly used, the exact definition of an "anchor" is debated in the literature. For our purposes, we will rely on the definition of anchor institute outlined in Taylor and Luter (2013).⁷

There are four defining characteristics or attributes of anchor institutions:

• **Spatial immobility.** The most defining trait of an anchor is its deep capital investments that often render relocation economically infeasible. Other variables that render immobility may include subsidies/locational advantages, tradition, mission and customer base.

- **Corporate status.** Anchor institutions are (mostly) non-profit organizations. Private, for-profit institutions are typically not regarded as anchor institutions. They are considered at risk for flight once profits start to dip, and thus unlikely to forge the deep, long-term sustainable partnerships and relationships that characterize anchor institutions.
- **Size.** Anchor institutes are influential (in terms of land holdings and cultural influence) and have a high degree of impact on the local economy, through purchasing power and employment.
- **Mission**. A mission of social justice, equity and democracy is a desirable trait for an anchor institution but is not required. An anchor institution should *minimally* possess the potential to acquire a social purpose mission.

There is a debate in the literature on the role of social responsibility as a defining characteristic of an anchor institution. Some argue that in order for anchor institu-

tions to be successful, they must make a shift from notions of mere "social responsibility" (a belief that institutions have a duty and responsibility to engage in actions which are beneficial to society) to include notions of "**shared value**."⁸ Shared value refers to a situation in which an institution pursues its own interests in a way that also creates value for the surrounding communities.⁹

In other words, institutions need to understand and articulate how pursuing community redevelopment efforts are in their own interests—how their fate is linked with their community's fate. This is deeper than providing financial donations to discrete community programs (i.e. "charity"); it means "consciously applying their long-term, place-based economic power, in combination with their human and intellectual resources, to better the long-term welfare of the communities in which they reside."¹⁰ "Today's landscape of persistent and increasing poverty and inequality require that we **bring all of our resources to bear to tackle these challenges**."

This is the anchor mission.¹¹ An anchor mission and the pursuit of shared value are especially important for ensuring sustained involvement in a community.

Institutions of higher education and medical institutions ("Eds and Meds") are often the chief anchor institutions that make social responsibility a core part of their mission.¹² They in particular can play a vital leadership role in equitable community development. For example, when these anchors undertake affordable housing projects, studies find that such projects improve neighborhood conditions, strengthen local housing markets and economies, and provide job opportunities and training for residents.¹³ In the era of globalization, when manufacturing as a stabilizing force in many American communities has declined, Eds and Meds have emerged as new sources (if yet to be fully appreciated sources) of stability and economic development for communities and cities through employment, procurement and real estate development.¹⁴ For example, US public and non-profit universities represent 3% of US GDP, have endowments exceeding \$400 billion, and employ over 3 million people. US hospitals employ 5 million people and have procurements above \$600 million per year.¹⁵ Even more to the point, the fact that educational and health outcomes are influenced by poverty and neighborhood conditions means that these institutions have an interest in improving community environments.

The Eds: recasting the vision of civic engagement

Universities have historically played a leading role as anchor institutes involved in community-building, including community development, although the road has not always been a smooth one. Engagement between public universities and the communities in which they are embedded can be traced back to the Morrill Act of 1862, an act that established a new type of university—one that would be available at a low cost to non-elites, and would teach curricula that had practical value for working class students.¹⁷ The original vision of the land-grant university was that it would meet the needs of citizens of its own state, initially through research and education. Fifty years after enactment, this vision was expanded to include outreach through the establishment of University Extensions. The spirit of university and community engagement was strong, if generally one-directional (i.e. university "experts" disseminating information to communities), in the first few decades of the Morrill Act, but over the course of time, engagement waned.¹⁸

Beginning in the 1960s with the service-learning movement, there has been a renewed focus on civic engagement and civic education. Fifty years later, nearly every campus has a service-learning component (where faculty and students are teaching and learning by doing), and several have gone beyond service learning to "community partnerships" that seek to achieve more structural, positive change in communities through a two-way collaboration between the university and the community.¹⁹

Communities should not only play a key role in identifying community concerns, but they should also help set the agenda for how the university will engage with the community.²⁰ To have the best chance for success in achieving positive structural community change, university-community partnerships need to be:

1.) well- planned,

- 2.) inclusive of community input,
- 3.) driven by faculty desire to do practice-oriented research,
- 4.) inclusive of students in order to increase civic competency,
- 5.) within the scope of expertise of the university,
- 6.) within community capacity based on the resources and strengths of the community in which the engagement is occurring, and
- 7.) mutually beneficial.²¹

In short, each party involved needs to feel as if they have something to teach and something to learn. Lastly, the outcomes from the partnership need to be measurable for both the institution and community.

High stakes for higher education

An enhanced model of university engagement that is broader and deeper than the "public mission" of the 19th-Century Morrill Act is not only possible, but necessary. Today's landscape of persistent and increasing poverty and inequality require that we bring all of our resources to bear to tackle these challenges. In communities across the country, some of the largest untapped resources are universities. And our universities are increasingly seeing the need to stop and reverse this course of deepening inequality.

Research shows that educational outcomes are influenced by factors outside of the classroom. Where you live matters for education. In fact, socioeconomic factors account for approximately 60% of student achievement.²² A study by Harvard Sociologist Robert Sampson found that, by the 3rd grade, the educational impact of living in a severely disadvantaged neighborhood is equivalent to having missed an entire year of school.²³ Neighborhoods in distress produce a host of stressors that can profoundly impair social and skills growth; physiological and psychological health; and the capacity to learn and thrive.²⁴

Children growing up in very poor families with low social status can experience unhealthy levels of stress hormones, which impair neural development.²⁵ Research shows that hunger and food insecurity, above and beyond poverty, have significant and negative impacts on children's educational performance. One study found that food insecure children performed lower on math and reading, and were more likely to repeat a grade.²⁶

The good news: we know how to do better. Universities can help ensure that their surrounding communities support the holistic and scholastic success of children—their future student body. Improvements in housing, safety, access to healthy food and health care—all of these and more play a critical role in enhancing educational outcomes. These types of "upstream" interventions by universities could pay dividends in the form of a more prepared, diverse student body; improved retention rates of students of color; and improved graduation rates of students of color.

Nationally, 50% of African American children and 43% of Latino children live in a neighborhood with poverty rates exceeding 20%, compared to 14% of white children.²⁷ In Florida, the situation for children living in high poverty neighborhoods (greater than 30%) has worsened: 12% of Florida children under 18 years old are living in such neighborhoods today, compared to 7% in 2000.²⁸ We need to target our resources to improve the conditions these children grow up in, and universities can help.

The Meds: defining a new role for achieving community health

"A successful anchor institution strategy requires that a hospital recognize that its institution's mission to promote health and well-being is as much for the patient who walks through the door as for the one who would have if a community intervention had not been made."²⁹

Health is inextricably linked to place. In fact, one's zip code is a better predictor of one's life expectancy than his or her genetic code.³⁰ Health systems are increasingly adopting an anchor institution mission.³¹ This makes considerable sense, given that recent research shows that roughly 60% of premature deaths are related to social and environmental conditions or behavioral patterns,³² otherwise known as the "social determinants of health." These are conditions such as unemployment, lack of affordable housing or healthy food, and crime. They occur outside of hospital walls, yet they have substantial implications for the work that goes on inside. Only about 15–20% of overall

health and longevity can be attributed to clinical care.³³ Neighborhood characteristics have an important influence on a person's ability to make healthy choices. Research indicates that in most urban areas, serious health challenges are highly concentrated in a small number of distressed neighborhoods.³⁴ This means that targeted interventions in identified high-need neighborhoods are possible, and would reach the most vulnerable residents. These neighborhoods are also more likely to be poor and minority.³⁵ One step in reducing racial and economic disparities in health outcomes is to reach out to these neighborhoods with cultural competency and an understanding of the multiple barriers to wellness that many of their residents face on a daily basis.

Unfortunately, our policy and health care systems have yet to catch up to the implications of the importance of the social determinants of health: fully 95% of health expenditures are on direct medical services, leaving a mere 5% spent on prevention.³⁶ Hospitals historically focused on providing surgery and acute care, an orientation that may still shape (and limit) their participation in community health and development.³⁷ However, it may be more cost-effective to participate in "upstream" interventions for improved public health, rather than only managing "downstream" chronic conditions. This is especially true for marginalized communities where social and environmental challenges are magnified and health insurance may be lacking. Too often, residents in these communities rely on emergency rooms to treat preventable or chronic conditions, a reliance that is costly (and likely unsustainable) for the health care system, and for patients. Treating chronic issues such as obesity or diabetes-issues that are heavily correlated with social and environmental factors—can be extremely costly to health systems.³⁸ In fact, 75% of total US health spending is for treating chronic conditions.³⁹ Upstream interventions could have a profound impact on downstream costs, and many of these upstream interventions are related to community development, such as improving access to healthy food, developing safe and affordable housing, and providing workforce development opportunities.⁴⁰

Anchor institution strategies centered on developing robust local procurement programs, and attracting and retaining employees who want to live near work in vibrant communities, are also "bottom line" incentives. Both strategies have the potential to build local capacity (i.e. develop or expand small businesses), create jobs, and increase the number of insured residents.⁴¹

For nonprofit hospitals especially, renewed scrutiny by the IRS on reported community benefits, and the new requirements for community health needs assessments established by the Affordable Care Act in 2010, round out the incentives hospitals have to be more deeply involved in community development activities.⁴² In today's push for transparency and engagement, "community benefit" defined solely as the amount of free care provided is no longer a sufficient justification for enjoying the benefits of a tax-exempt status.⁴³

Fortunately, there are examples of hospital-led community development. We have examples of hospitals embracing "a community engagement framework that seeks to address root causes of health problems, strengthening the local economy and neighborhoods, improving the environment, and bettering public health."⁴⁴ Hospitals are uniquely positioned at the intersection of public health and community development; today, more of them are realizing the increased value they can provide to their communities and to their patients.

Case Studies & Lessons Learned

Anchor Institute-Led Community Development and Housing Initiatives

Case #1: Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus OH

The Neighborhood: The South side of Columbus, Ohio

Nationwide Children's Hospital sits at the northern edge of Columbus' South side neighborhood, historically an immigrant gateway and the industrial heart of Columbus. Like many former industrial areas, job losses, housing instability, poverty, and significant predatory lending had decimated the neighborhood over recent decades. Until recently, investment in the South side community has been small in comparison to the growing need, especially in the wake of the housing crisis and the recession. The South side suffers unacceptably high rates of infant mortality, incarceration, and unemployment. In 2008, at the height of the foreclosure crisis, the number of vacant homes in the neighborhood reached record levels; property crimes and arsons were creating significant public health and safety risks.

The South side covers a large physical area, encompassing ten different sub-neighborhoods. It is comprised primarily of low-income and working class people—43% of households earn less than \$25,000 a year.⁴⁵ Forty-two percent of the population is white, and about half of the population is Black.⁴⁶ Yet there are also pockets of high wealth within the South side neighborhoods, including families in million-dollar homes.

Approximately 25% of the housing is vacant in the South side.⁴⁷ The housing stock is suitable for redevelopment, mainly consisting of single-family homes and duplexes. Some focused revitalization is already underway, increasing the availability of safe, decent, affordable homes. Despite these initial investments, the South side is not at immediate risk of displacement given the deflated housing prices in the area. However, commercial property speculation has increased recently, further complicating the already complex redevelopment landscape.

The current real estate investment in the South side consists of more than \$20 million in housing-related revitalization, including senior apartments, tax credit housing, and building improvements. One of the key initiatives driving this emerging revitalization is the "Healthy Neighborhoods Healthy Families" program spearheaded by Nationwide Children's Hospital.

The Anchor: Nationwide Children's Hospital and its entrée into community development

In the early 2000s, a leadership change at Nationwide Children's Hospital ("NCH" or "Children's") initiated a shift in the vision and strategic direction of the hospital. At the time, the Board made a conscious decision to reposition Children's to be the world's best children's hospital. Part of the initial plan to achieve this vision was to

relocate out of the South side altogether. Given the distress of the South side neighborhood, especially those blocks immediately adjacent to the hospital campus, it was believed that the vision could not be achieved as long as the hospital was located there.

As our earlier discussion highlighted, however, one of the defining features of anchor institutes is that they are quite literally economically "anchored" to their locations. In the case of NCH, early analysis showed it would be too costly to move, given the capital investments of the hospital. With this option off the table, the Board decided that to become the world's best Children's hospital, a major expansion of its core facilities was necessary, including a \$1 billion capital construction campaign and a \$25 million request to the City of Columbus for infrastructure financing.

The pitch seemed straightforward: the hospital was going to do a significant amount of capital investment, and add about 2,000 new jobs. Yet at the time, NCH was identified by a local newspaper as owning some of the worst properties in the neighborhood. Prior to the change in leadership, the hospital had been acquiring individual residential structures to the immediate east of the hospital. The original plan was to demolish these structures, but they continued to rent them at very low cost, without improving the properties. This practice was adding to the deterioration of housing in the community, and the community was upset about it.

In the end, in exchange for the city infrastructure financing, the hospital agreed to address housing needs. And it needed help to do so. The first conversation between the hospital and Community Development 4 All People (CD4AP), a community-based organization that had begun its own housing redevelopment work, took place around 2006. At this time, the hospital was approaching CD4AP not as a potential partner, but simply for insight. In a few years' time, however, the two entities would find themselves joining forces to transform housing in some of the most distressed blocks in the community.

The hospital embraces a new model to improve the health and wellness of its neighborhood

In 2008 the hospital revealed a multi-million dollar financial commitment to revitalize the area surrounding the hospital campus, known as the Healthy Neighborhoods, Healthy Families ("HNHF") initiative. Through HNHF, the hospital addresses issues of health and wellness, education, safe and accessible neighborhoods, economic development, and affordable housing. The hospital acted to stabilize housing at the outset.

It was at this point that CD4AP and the hospital moved to a different level of conversation. The hospital and CD4AP formed the HNHF Realty Collaborative—a separate non-profit company, but structured so that CD4AP owns it. When the Collaborative was created, a board was outlined, where half of the board members were named by the hospital, and half by CD4AP. The Chief Financial Officer of the hospital would be the board chair. The hospital pledged to put between \$3 to \$5 million into the venture over the first 3-5 year period, and CD4AP promised to provide some of the staffing for the housing work. It was also agreed that the hospital would hire one full-time person, whose responsibility was to oversee the housing work in its entirety, a program now called "Healthy Homes."

The timing of the launch in 2008 was far from ideal, given the bottoming out of the housing market. However, CD4AP had realized early on that the typical business model for rehabilitating vacant houses for homeownership was not going to work, and certainly would not work in the rapidly deteriorating economic environment that marked 2008 and 2009. Instead of relying on income from developer fees when the rehabbed house was sold, CD4AP proposed that the hospital provide a stable source of income. The hospital agreed to provide \$100,000 per year to CD4AP for the acquisition and renovation of properties. The move was a smart one; it allowed the work to survive some of the most challenging years of the housing crisis.

The Approach

The strategy was a two- pronged approach to tackle housing revitalization: acquisition of vacant and abandoned units, and home repair assistance for existing owners. The target area was the 35 blocks directly south of the hospital campus. The first prong was to acquire vacant, blighted, abandoned and foreclosed residences in the area, rehabilitate them, and make them available for sale as close to market rate as possible. Any property they acquired had to be vacant for at least 60 days. Property acquisition focused on "the worst of the worst" on each block. From the beginning, there was an explicit goal that no one would be displaced from the neighborhood as a result of the Collaborative's housing redevelopment efforts.

It was also recognized that the success of selling rehabbed homes would hinge on the quality of housing on the rest of the block. Thus, the second prong was to provide home repair grants to existing homeowners for exterior repairs. As described by Robert Williams, the full-time director of Healthy Homes, acquisition strategy is everything. When Healthy Homes first started, they targeted housing that was in close proximity to other housing they would rehabilitate, or homes they provided home repair grants to, "so that [they] could continue to build that mass where you're not the empty tooth on the block."

Engaging with the community: delivering on promises eases early skepticism

At the beginning of the housing initiative, the relationship between the community and the hospital was, frankly, confrontational. Early on, Williams describes, "There was a lot of questioning, a lot of mistrust... a lot of 'we will wait and see,' and a lot of push back on a lot of things." People were worried about demolition; people were worried that the rehabilitated buildings would not look like what already existed in the neighborhood. And most importantly, they questioned "whether or not we would actually do what we said we would do."

Today, things are different. That's not to say the community agrees with every plan or idea that comes out of HNHF, but the disagreements are not as volatile. Much of this progress has to do with increased communication with civic associations, the local Area Commission, and people who have influence in the community. But perhaps most important was the establishment of a solid track record. The community can see the houses that have been built or improved; they can see that they are of high quality, take note that they sell, and see the value added to the community. Says Williams, "Over the course of time, communicating and actually finishing products, people moving in and all of that, I think they began to trust the program a lot more than when we first started."

THE OUTCOMES

In a relatively short time period, the outcomes have been substantial (especially given that the housing program was launched during one of the worst housing crises in our national history), including:

- \$15 million of housing reinvestment in 35 blocks. Over 25% of housing in the target area (100 out of 400 units) has been touched by HNHF programming.
- 60 houses have been sold
- 75 home repairs have been made
- Vacant and blighted housing stock has been reduced by 50%
- Appraisal values have increased. In the beginning, the maximum value for rehabbed houses averaged approximately \$90,000; today they range from \$125,000-\$130,000, an increase of 30% in 6 years.
- Staff has increased from one full-time staff person (Robert Williams) to four full-time staff.
- Expanded footprint, both geographically (the boundaries have expanded further south three times) and programmatically, including the launch of another project called "South side Renaissance" (a home repair program).
- Developed a relationship with the Franklin County Land Bank to do some moderate rehabilitation.

KEY LESSONS TO SHARE

- 1.) Acquisition is paramount. As Williams shared, "It is easy to get caught up with everything that is in the middle—how are we going to build the houses, what will our product look like? But ultimately, if you can't acquire houses and you can't sell them, you are probably going to have a difficult time. So, make sure that there is enough housing stock in your neighborhood to be able to have an impact. Make sure that you can acquire strategically where you can give yourself a chance to sell your end product based on there being other products in close proximity to it."
- 2.) **It's a long-term commitment.** "It's not going to happen overnight. It will take time. It's great if you have multiple levels of financing, but keep in mind that's going to create more hoops and barrels for you to jump through with your process so it might take a little longer."
- 3.) Leverage existing community assets. Evaluate what already exists in the community that can be a tool, especially local allies. As Williams points out, "You are going to get push back, you will get people who don't like the ideas that you have, or the things that you want to do. So, if you can, garner some sort of community advocate or someone who has leverage in the community, who is well-respected and get them as your ally, which might help your process go a little bit faster."
- 4.) Have a plan in place to develop community capacity and empowerment. According to Williams, this is one oversight of their early programming: "In hindsight, another thing that I would look at in the beginning is how you create a program or system that you know that once you get new people in there, that's going to strengthen the community and they will be able to take the reins."
- 5.) Partnerships matter. No anchor can go it alone. Make sure all the needed

partnerships are in place, including: city officials, land banks, and local banks that may have property that they may be willing to donate or sell.

- 6.) **Know your market and community.** Quite simply, "is what you are building what people want?"
- 7.) **Commitment of top leadership is critical.** Without the commitment of executive and board leadership, HNHF would not have happened. With this commitment, the hospital has seen its relationship with the community blossom along with the redevelopment near the hospital's campus.

Nationwide Children's Hospital Columbus, Ohio



Non-White Rate of South Side in Columbus, Ohio



Poverty Rate of South Side in Columbus, Ohio



Housing Cost Burden Rate of South Side in Columbus, Ohio







Case #2: Washington University Medical Center Redevelopment Corporation, St. Louis MO

The Anchor: Washington University Medical Center should we stay or should we go?

The Washington University Medical Center Redevelopment Corporation (WUM-CRC) is a non-profit real estate and planning company established in the late 1960s through the Washington University Medical Center (WUMC). The WUMC, comprised of the School of Medicine and BJC Healthcare (which manages a series of hospitals), created the redevelopment corporation in order to manage campus expansion, real estate development and other policies. The medical center serves as the parent organization of WUMCRC, providing the chief source of funding and accountability (WUMCRC reports to a Board made up of medical center leadership).

The partnership between the Medical Center and Redevelopment Corporation continued to evolve over the years. By the mid-1970s, neighborhoods surrounding the medical campus began to deteriorate. According to Brian Phillips, Executive Director of WUMCRC, "A lot of our traditional customers were moving to the suburbs and a lot of city institutions were following those customers." As conditions worsened, the medical school was faced with the dilemma of deciding whether to remain in its urban setting or to relocate and re-build in the burgeoning suburbs.

This was not a light decision to make. The Washington University Medical School is consistently regarded among the top medical schools nationally, with its teaching hospitals among the nation's ten best, and is one of the largest recipients of National Institutes of Health research grants. This reputation could be at stake if the university was unable to attract and retain talented students and faculty if there was the perception of an unsafe community. As Philips described, "The urban neighborhoods that surrounded the campus had deteriorated to the point that they were some of the highest crime neighborhoods. So, there were issues of safety of employees, patients and customers and vendors."

Relocation was ultimately decided against. With this decision came a shift in priorities for WUMCRC, from internally- to externally-focused. Strategic plans were developed to stabilize neighborhoods around the medical campus through improvements in community infrastructure, support existing organizations, and create new organizations that would enhance neighborhood stability and social capital. To achieve this, the WUMC sought to:

- create and maintain partnerships that result in sustainable "community infrastructure" that adds to long-term viability of targeted neighborhoods, and
- uncover opportunities for the WUMCRC to better leverage its resources in

carrying out its primary mission.

The WUMCRC was tasked to a) stabilize and revitalize neighborhoods surrounding the medical center campus (this comprised 97% of its work), and b) to serve as an internal planning, real estate holding and campus expansion company (the remaining 3%). The organization serves as the "boots on the ground" in community development for the neighborhoods of Central West End and Forest Park South East. Its field office of three full-time staff members, a part-time accountant, part-time executive assistant and four part-time interns operates on a yearly budget of \$540,000. As Philips shared, "We do the things that others can't do until they can do them and then we move on to something else." However, this does not mean WUMCRC relinquishes all involvement. According to Enrique Flores, Program Manager, "We never step away from a particular initiative; once an organization begins to take ownership, we step back and play a role as a partner rather than the lead."

The Work: multi-faceted approaches to neighborhood stabilization

The work of the Washington University Medical Center Redevelopment Corporation required special powers which it acquired under revised Chapter 353 of the Missouri redevelopment statute. This revision granted the WUMCRC the power to establish a redevelopment district, allowing WUMCRC to grant tax abatements as incentives for local businesses, use powers of condemnation and eminent domain, and zone. These significant powers of land use and taxation were used to start the redevelopment of the two targeted neighborhoods in the mid-1970s (Central West End to its north and Forest Park South East to the south of the medical campus). However, this special district covers only about 20% of the total target area, and WUMCRC has not used these powers since 2001.

Central West End (CWE), originally constructed over 40 years ago as the city's premier upper-income community, has approximately 15,000 residents. This dense neighborhood currently has a diverse housing stock, ranging from mansions to subsidized housing units, with a mixture of ages and incomes that reflect its demographics of empty-nester, college students and young professionals. Initial work in this neighborhood focused on restoration with some provisions for more affordable housing. As Phillips explained, "Our work there was not so much about gentrification as it was about returning it to its original purpose." This was achieved through the pre-acquisition of properties that were then turned over to capable developers to create quality housing in the neighborhood. WUMCRC is now also involved in efforts to improve the neighborhood's safety and security, and holds a seat on the board of the CWE Neighborhood Security Initiative (CWE-NSI). Since the launch of CWE-NSI in 2007, the neighborhood has experienced a 40% decrease in crime.⁴⁸

The second neighborhood, Forest Park South East, was originally designed as a bedroom community for employees of the nearby factories. When the neighborhood was built in the early 20th century, a vast majority of residents earned less than 80% of the area median income. At that time, the population was approximately 70% African American and about a fifth were below the age of eighteen. For a long time, the neighborhood was a solid, blue-collar neighborhood. However, homeownership rates had fallen from about 70% in the 1990s to almost 20% at present. The goal of the WUM-CRC was to stabilize the low-income population by increasing homeownership. The WUMCRC acquired properties from absentee landlords and worked with local community development corporations to rehab the units and rent them to low-income families (50-80% AMI) who had steady employment. They also provided professional property management.

WUMCRC also recognized that stability in school was as important as stability in housing. In fact, studies find that students who move frequently (schools and/or housing) perform worse academically than their peers, particularly if they undergo multiple moves.ii The neighborhood school—Adams Elementary—had operated in the community from the 1880s until it closed in 1992. Consequently, neighborhood school children attended 29 different elementary schools in 15 different school districts. The WUMCRC worked with the St. Louis Public School board to re-open the school in 2001 and built an eight-million dollar community center. While Phillips acknowledges that the academic outcomes for students may not have improved directly, the

"Since the launch of CWE-NSI in 2007, the neighborhood has experienced **a 40% decrease in crime**"

reopening "at least brought all the kids back to one elementary school where they have a chance to get to know their neighbors. In the first year the school opened, the mobility rate was about 78%, meaning 78% of students that started in September left by May and were replaced by another set of folks. And so, the affordable housing project that we did with the CDCs has really stabilized those populations—you don't see those turnover rates anymore."

In addition, in 1995 the WUMCRC also invested \$2.5 million in community planning which included social services, affordable housing, security and infrastructure. Today, the neighborhood is more racially diverse—approximately half of its residents are white, and young professionals have moved into the area.

Achieving stability without gentrification

In any redevelopment efforts of distressed neighborhoods, fears of displacement and gentrification abound. And in many cases, these fears are justified. However, in neighborhoods where the housing markets are extremely depressed, displacement and gentrification are generally not immediate realities. Such was the case in the Central West End and Forest Park Southeast neighborhoods. Phillips describes the approach they took to ensuring an inclusive mix in this way: "When we first came here, the real estate market was severely depressed and any housing development required a tremendous amount of subsidy.... By stabilizing the affordable housing first, and then encouraging the larger market housing, we ended up with a situation where we had low-income homeowners and renters already here in the neighborhood. And now as the market has now come up, the market rate development, where they don't require any subsidy, you can have market rate units coming online now. That's how we dealt with equity—we provided housing to low-income renters first and then let the natural market forces take over to provide the market rates units. So we have a pretty good mix of both affordable and market- rate housing."

Engaging with the community: an evolving relationship

WUMCRC has been actively involved in the neighborhoods for decades now. And during this time, the nature of the relationship between the university and the residents has evolved, changing with time and circumstance. For example, in the 1970s, when WUMCRC became involved in the Central West End, residents welcomed the investment and activity "with open arms…because the neighborhood had gone past its tipping point, had gone downhill and nobody wanted to invest there. That was pretty easy in terms of neighborhood support. What was hard was getting the private market to believe in the area."

The situation was different in Forest Park Southeast. In the 1980s, WUMCRC began work in relatively small part of the neighborhood that consisted mostly of "urban pioneers and they were pretty welcoming." When WUMCRC's footprint began to expand in the 1990s to the entire neighborhood, there was a great deal of mistrust. As Phillips explained, "We had previously worked only in a small portion of the neighborhood and so people were curious as to why we wanted to expand to a larger portion of the neighborhood. The demographics of the area we had previously worked in tended to be white and middle class and the area we were moving to was mostly low-income and African-American. And so, it was all of those types of disparities. We spent the first couple of years in the '90s really trying to demonstrate that the purpose was to work with the whole neighborhood and not just a select few." As with most things, time and delivering results go a long way to easing distrust.

THE OUTCOMES

To date, the WUMCRC has invested more than \$30 million in various neighborhood initiatives, including:

- Stabilized historic housing stock
- \$48.2 million in matching private/public funds
- 56 affordable housing units sold to low-income families
- 125 rental units
- Over 500 units of market and affordable housing units produced
- Over 100 home repairs since 1997
- Re-opened Adams Elementary School
- Free Saturday adult clinic
- Neighborhood security committee established, resulting in a 10-year reduction in crime
- Employment services program from 1999-2013: about 100 residents participated, with about half placed in employment that lasted for at least six months.

KEY LESSONS TO SHARE

- 1.) **Be very honest with the community as to why you are investing.** As described above, the expansion into Forest Park Southeast was initially met with skepticism, and it took some time to resolve some of these concerns.
- 2.) Leveraging or building community infrastructure is key. According to Phillips, "It's always better to either develop existing relationships or where partnerships don't exist, build them from the ground up because people will see through a top-down approach in a heartbeat and it will set back your efforts very, very far."
- 3.) Don't promise what you can't deliver. Raising expectations in the community that are unrealistic will degrade the organization's credibility and weaken trust.
- 4.) **Prioritization must come from the ground up.** For Phillips, building community infrastructure is everything, and this can only be done if the community sets the direction: "Letting the community set up priority of what needs to be done is key to building a partnership. If we come in and we are going to hone in on any initiative but then the community does not set that priority, we are never going to build the capacity to make it successful."
- 5.) **Community conditions directly impact organizational outcomes.** Conditions surrounding the medical center were identified as a direct threat to its viability. The efforts in the community were not only important to improve community conditions, but also to support the financial well-being of the medical center.

Poverty Rate of Central W End & Forest Park SE in St. Louis, Missouri



Non-White Rate of Central W End & Forest Park SE in St. Louis, Missouri



Housing Cost Burden Rate of Central W End & Forest Park SE in St. Louis, Missouri



Vacancy Rate of Central W End & Forest Park SE in St. Louis, Missouri



Case #3: Rochester Area Foundation and Mayo Clinic, Rochester MI

The Anchor: Rochester Area Foundation stabilizes housing

The Rochester Area Foundation (RAF) in Minneapolis, Minnesota was established in 1944 as a community foundation to assist those in need. This was accomplished through initial financial donations (of \$3,500 and \$50,000) from the Mayo Foundation (of the Mayo Clinic). The foundation was established to play three roles:

- 1.) A vehicle for connecting donors who are interested in doing community work with causes where they would make an impact
- 2.) A grant-maker for non-profit organizations
- 3.) A convener in building partnerships and networks across communities

A lack of affordable housing leaves employees looking elsewhere

Starting in the 1980s, several meetings were held in the Rochester community about the lack of affordable housing. There was no movement on the issue until the 1990s, when the Rochester Area Foundation became involved and pledged financial support. But the RAF knew it could not do this work alone. They created a plan to bring before the Mayo Clinic, a large employer in the community.

The Mayo Clinic had a clear economic incentive. As JoAnn Stormer, President of the Rochester Area Foundation, described: "People were coming here to work--particularly to work at Mayo Clinic—but leaving in a short time because there wasn't enough affordable housing for them.... It might be okay if you were a doctor and you were making a decent salary and you could find a house that you could afford. But folks who did not make the top-end salary, but had stable and consistent jobs, were not finding enough affordable housing at the time. So people were turning around in 6 or 7 months and leaving. So, Mayo Clinic was very interested in seeing that there was affordable housing in the community."

The Mayo Clinic recognized the connection between affordable housing needs and their organizational viability. The Clinic gave an initial \$4 million to the Foundation towards the effort, with another \$3 million if RAF was able to secure \$3 million in match by other donors. Eventually, approximately \$14 million was raised. These funds were granted out to an organization charged with developing 875 housing units, including multi-family rental units and single-family homes, within five years.

Unfortunately, only two structures were built within the first year. The funding was rescinded, and redirected to form First Homes Properties, a collaboration between RAF, the Mayo Clinic and the Rochester Area Chamber of Commerce, in 2000. The mission of First Homes is to "provide leadership in the creation of a permanent supply of

workforce housing."⁵⁰ This permanent affordability is primarily achieved through two programs: purchasing a Heritage Home offered by First Homes, or purchasing a Community Land Trust ("CLT") resale property offered by First Homes. Heritage Homes, a purchase-rehab program, was created in 2004 to invest in existing homes in the inner-core neighborhoods of Rochester. Most of the homes acquired through Heritage Homes are vacant and in need of rehabilitation. Once the properties are repaired, they are then sold as part of the CLT.

In simple terms, for community land trust properties, buyers own the house, while First Homes CLT owns the land on which the house sits. Because the buyer does not own the land, the house is more affordable—the trust structure decreases the cost of a mortgage by an average of \$30,000-\$40,000.⁵¹ When a homeowner chooses to sell, First Homes CLT has the first option to purchase the property. Homeowners receive all of the equity they have earned during their tenure, and half of the increased appreciation of the home. The other half remains with the CLT, which ensures a permanent supply of affordable homes in the community; the benefits of First Homes investments pass along from buyer to buyer.

The Work: affordability challenges persist

When First Homes was created in 2000, 36% of all renters were "cost-burdened" meaning households were paying more than 30% of their income on housing. Today, that number for renters is 45%. Almost 25% of homeowners pay more than 50% of their income for housing costs. To get a better understanding of the dynamics at play, RAF sponsored a housing study, in partnership with the County and Mayo Clinic. As Stormer shared, "What we have found is that we are somewhat in the same position that we were 12-15 years ago, and that is we still do not have enough affordable housing. We certainly went up at one point but as our population is continuing to grow in this community and in this area, because of the good jobs that are here, we are finding that ... for every 100 [units], there is less than 1 that is available and affordable."

The study revealed that the average cost of housing in the area is \$199,000, which a carpenter earning \$22 per hour would not be able to afford. The study also revealed that the persistent dearth of affordable housing has resulted in homelessness among the working poor. In response, the funders brought together representatives from various organizations, including city and county elected officials, to discuss the study's findings and formulate effective plans.

The partners, including resident stakeholders, are thinking through how to address the continuing (and emerging) affordability challenges through new funding and partnership opportunities. As Stormer described, "We also have to think about all of the various funding tools that are out there and figure out how we are going to use those funding tools and maximize our opportunity to use them. Our community is growing in terms of its population. We are predicting that we will see a growth of about 35,000–40,000 in the next 20 years, particularly due to the growth of Mayo and other businesses....In some sense, we are behind because we have a lack of senior housing as well. We are trying to figure out which of these issues we should address and how we are going to address them. At one point, there weren't many non-profit housing organizations. There are a few more in the area that are in existence."

The hope is to have a draft plan by early 2015 to present to the community for feedback. "We are still trying to figure out what our next phase will be and where we are going. Housing is not the same as it was 20 years ago -- the type of housing is more [varied] and more single people. What are their needs versus the homes that we might have seen 20 years ago?"

THE OUTCOMES

First Homes operates one of the largest community land trusts in the country. To date, First Homes' achievements include:

- 328 "gap" loans made to prospective home buyers
- Community land trust serving 304 households
- Worked with private developers on 423 multifamily rental units
- Total of 1,100 units served to date

KEY LESSONS TO SHARE

- 1.) **Plan for sustainability.** Some mistakes were made in the early years (such as the unachievable 875-unit goal in the first year). As Stormer described, "In the early years, the sentiment was that we need to build houses and get it going and make sure that the community has the housing that it needs but we didn't necessarily think about how to sustain the organization to keep that going in the future- that was a challenge." Today, the goals are different: "As we are moving forward, we just concluded a strategic plan [with] better goals around people and how we serve them and their families. The challenge is that as things got going, it became about of the number of units that we had versus the people that we were serving." What they do know after years of this work, however, is "that having stable housing for children, for families, just makes a huge difference."
- 2.) **Partnerships with the community are critical.** One of RAFs primary roles is to act as connector. These connections remain critical to address the affordable housing shortage. Says Stormer: "Figuring how to address things together, involving (in our case) the Chamber, all the businesses, connecting United Way, banks and lenders, other community organizations, is really critical so that people are a part of making this happen."
- 3.) **Expand your footprint if it's needed.** Housing affordability challenges affected more than the just the city of Rochester and its county. So, First Homes expanded into 12 other communities. As a land trust, managing housing that is 40 miles away can be a challenge, but there was a clear need.
- 4.) **Expect challenges.** The efforts have been met with numerous challenges; a willingness to shift strategy is critical. In particular, this effort is battling a very robust or "hot" local housing market.
- 5.) Housing challenges are employer challenges. The international reputation of the Mayo Clinic is tied to the high quality of its workforce. In this case, top-tier professional salaries could sustain their housing in the community, but the supportive employees, with moderate or lower salaries, were negatively impacted by housing costs. Efforts to address housing are also a platform to stabilize the workforce and avoid employee retention problems.

Rochester Area Foundation Rochester, Minnesota



Non-White Rate of Slatterly Park, Kutzky Park, and E Side Pioneers in Rochester, Minnesota



Poverty Rate of Slatterly Park, Kutzky Park, and E Side Pioneers in Rochester, Minnesota


Housing Cost Burden Rate of Slatterly Park, Kutzky Park, and E Side Pioneers in Rochester, Minnesota



Vacancy Rate of Slatterly Park, Kutzky Park, and E Side Pioneers in Rochester, Minnesota



Case #4: The Cleveland Foundation, Cleveland OH

The Anchor: The Cleveland Foundation convenes multiple anchors

On January 2, 1914, the Cleveland Foundation was established as the world's first community foundation. Initially conceptualized as a "community trust," Frederick H. Goff banker, lawyer and former mayor of the then city of Glenville—saw this as a mechanism through which Cleveland's philanthropists would pool their resources into an endowment, from which it would undertake "such charitable purposes as will best make for the mental, moral, and physical improvement of the inhabitants of Cleveland."

The Cleveland Foundation today, with a staff of 75, is a charity organization created for and by members of the community, where local donors provide funding and grants are approved by a board of citizens. To date, the Cleveland Foundation is the second-largest community foundation in the country with approximately \$2.2 billion in assets. Its endowment has grown to over \$1.8 billion, with 50 percent being unrestricted and the other half being Board-directed strategic initiatives. In 2014, the Foundation made \$95 million in grants to the Greater Cleveland/ Cuyahoga County area; on average they grant \$80 to \$90 million annually. Over the years, the Foundation has awarded over \$1 billion in grants.

"To date, **the** Cleveland Foundation is the second-largest community foundation in the country with approximately \$2.2 billion in assets."

The Issue: The anchors and the "aha" moment

The University Circle neighborhood, located 4 miles east of downtown Cleveland, is a rich cultural enclave of museums and institutions such as the Cleveland Museum of Art, the Cleveland Orchestra's Severance Hall, the Cleveland Institute of Music, Case Western University and University Hospitals. However, several surrounding neighborhoods have been experiencing deterioration in their housing stock, high levels of poverty, segregation and economic disinvestment of retail and other commercial uses. As India Pierce Lee, Program Director at The Cleveland Foundation, described, "We have about 50,000 residents whose income is \$18,500 or below. We have 24 percent of them aged 15 to 64 that are not in the workforce. If you add those 18–64 that stopped looking, it's about 40 percent. So, we are trying to find ways to address poverty, create

careers and opportunity, create jobs for low- income residents, and stabilize the neighborhoods at the same time."

The decision to invest in this neighborhood was a calculated one. According to Lee, "We did some mapping and kind of took the six neighborhoods around University Circle. We mapped out vacant property and the one-mile areas where you have all the rich institutions. We did this map and I think it was the "aha" moment for everybody because we have about 50,000 [people] who drive to these institutions just to work every day. And even though people knew there were poor neighborhoods, it was kind of an "aha" moment as people realized that for the institutions and the neighborhoods to succeed, we all have to come together and do something. We continually remind people of why we came together. The one thing I can say is that we have leadership from the CEO level and the senior level staff—they are in the trenches every day helping us figure out how to address the issues." Eventually, the Cleveland Foundation expanded the impact area to "Greater" University Circle, to include Wade Park-Glenville, Hough, portions of Fairfax, and Buckeye-Shaker. Also included in the expansion were the Cleveland Clinic, the Veterans Affairs Medical Center, and public schools, such as the John Hay High School.

Spearheaded in 2005 by the Cleveland Foundation and in conjunction with local anchor institutions, the Greater University Circle Initiative (GUCI) focuses on four areas: institutional partnerships, physical redevelopment, economic inclusion, and community engagement. The Cleveland Foundation served as convener of the Greater University Circle Initiative Leadership Group, which includes institutions such as Case Western Reserve University, the Cleveland Clinic, University Hospitals, the Greater Cleveland Regional Transit Authority, and the City of Cleveland.

This level of collaborative, planned investment represented an opportunity to embark on collaborative and equitable neighborhood redevelopment at a scale not previously seen in the community. Says Lee, "Individually, institutions had been doing different things in the community, but as part of the way the Foundation operates in being proactive, it was a way to leverage what each organization was doing. Collectively, we looked at areas we could work together in."

However, managing so many relationships among the many anchors is not an easy task. As Lee described, "When you are working with so many different institutions... one of the reasons why I think it has worked so well is that we intermittently hire a consultant to interview the institutions. The work that my colleagues and I did at the time to meet individually with anchors to understand what their needs were. Also, we went to the community to try and figure out how we work together to solve an issue. So, it's more about relationship-building and not jumping into things." Although challenging at times, it is working. Lee went on to share, "When it started, no one imagined that ten years later everybody would still be at the table and working together, but we all understand that we are better collectively as a whole than as individuals."

Some early successes of the initiative include an evolving local procurement program to redirect \$3 billion in purchasing power to local businesses; \$140 million in new, public-private commercial and residential developments; a new workforce training center; and three new employee-owned businesses in Greater University Circle neighborhoods.

The Work: addressing redevelopment on all fronts

The Cleveland Foundation's portfolio of initiatives is quite diverse. The Greater University Circle Initiative has done work in four project arenas: Transit-oriented Development and Housing, Education, Economic Inclusion, and Safety. Through the Foundation's support, more than \$1 million has been raised to support three transportation projects, including the relocation of a rapid transit station. In addition, the GUCI has sponsored mortgage and home-repair assistance programs to low- and moderate-income families.

Through the employer-assisted housing program (launched in Mayville during the housing crisis of 2008), the Cleveland Foundation raised approximately \$4 million from the partner institutions and \$1.5 million from philanthropy for workers that live in challenged neighborhoods. New residents receive up to \$30,000 if they purchase a house in the GUCI footprint. The institutions also provide a rental component, and existing residents can receive up to \$8,000 in matching grants for home repairs.

On the issue of gentrification, Lee said, "We had so many vacancies in our area due to the foreclosure crisis. When we initially started this, we had an evaluation done by Burlington and Associates...to look at potentially setting up a land trust. At the time, because there were so many vacant properties...and land in our neighborhood, we could not make it work...We are actually in the process of doing another feasibility study, but one of the things we learned from West Philly was that...they did not plan for success 15 to 20 years out. We are starting to see some of that take place now, but rather than use the word gentrification, because we are working with residents, I started talking about regeneration of the neighborhood. So, how do we regenerate a neighborhood where we want people to come in and have resources?" Many neighborhoods where this type of work is initiated are not at immediate risk of displacement, given the level of vacancy and blight. But as Lee correctly pointed out, displacement can occur, if policies to avoid displacement ten to twenty years down the line are not put in place early.

For Lee, it was important that existing residents felt empowered through these reinvestments: "We started 3 years ago, engaging the residents that were already there, doing clean up days; we redid a park and renamed the area, field trips to the arts museum so that people in the neighborhood could feel like all of the redevelopment ... was for them too. We've spent a lot of time educating the community, bringing them together with other non-profits, the institutions and trying to break down those barriers."

To enhance education for local students, the Cleveland Foundation, in concert with the Cleveland Metropolitan School District and ParkWorks, a local non-profit, created a "campus" that links John Hay High School with the Cleveland School of the Arts, and greenways that are accessible to students and residents alike. Economic inclusion efforts include a workforce strategy that provides job training and access to jobs in the Greater University Circle for qualified neighborhood residents. Through a partnership with the University Hospital, 62 GUCI residents have been hired, with an 85% retention rate.

University Hospital also created a separate program called "Bridge to the Future" that works to enhance entry-level workers by providing GED classes and assisting them with earning college degrees. They have had over 200 graduates, who then move up in the system and create opportunities for others from the community to fill their vacated entry-level positions. The GUCI also developed a strategy that identifies opportunities to purchase products and services from neighborhood businesses or busi-

nesses that relocate to the area. Lastly, the Foundation authorized a \$150,000 grant to the GUCI for Strategic Investment Initiatives, a Visitor's Center, and a Safety Study in the Greater University Circle.

Neighborhood Connections is another organization that works with anchor institutions and the community. This collective "Neighborhood Network" provides small grants of \$500 to \$5,000 to block clubs in the neighborhoods. The groups meet monthly, where they organize, share information, and create opportunities for residents. Lee described the engagement thusly: "It is not a quick fix type of thing -- it is a lot of listening, working with a lot of people that understand what the needs are, and reshaping how we do business."

THE OUTCOMES

The Cleveland Foundation has achieved much through the Greater University Circle Initiative. Some of its accomplishments include:

- Increased employment and homeownership in the GUCI neighborhood
- Enhanced community efficacy and social capital through the "Neighborhood Connections" project
- Improved public transportation
- Safer neighborhoods
- \$1.6 million grant to the Museum of Contemporary Art to relocate to Uptown
- \$1 million grant to the Cleveland Institute of Art to consolidate its facilities in the Uptown District
- \$150,000 grant to Maximum Accessible Housing Ohio to plan its new facility within the district
- \$50,000 grant to University Circle, Inc., to study the feasibility of a joint parking facility
- \$150,000 grant to University Circle, Inc., for Living in the Circle, Strategic Investment Initiatives, Visitor's Center, and Safety Study in Greater University Circle
- \$120,000 planning grant to the Regional Transit Authority to relocate the 120th Street Station to this district, which has resulted in \$12.5 million in committed Tiger III funds to build a new station at Mayfield Road
- \$1 million grant to CWRU for predevelopment, streetscape improvements, and public amenities for Uptown
- \$4 million Program Related Investment (PRI) loan for development of Phase I of Uptown
- \$160,000 planning grant to CWRU to begin planning for Phase II
- \$2 million Program Related Investment (PRI) loan for development of Phase II of Uptown

KEY LESSONS TO SHARE

- 1.) **Philanthropy can play a critical role.** The success of the initiative is tied to the ability to leverage multiple anchors in the neighborhood. While the foundation plays a role as a funder in this scenario, they are also playing a larger (and very important) role as a convener and facilitator.
- 2.) **Multifaceted approaches are needed.** The efforts in Cleveland illustrate the need for holistic approaches in stabilizing communities through various intervention strategies. While housing is a critical piece of this intervention, other efforts to build social capital and employment opportunity are essential complements to stabilizing housing.
- 3.) Gentrification fears and market conditions may not match. Although gentrification was not seen as a realistic threat based on market conditions, the potential of gentrification stirs anxiety in the neighborhood. The collaborative has attempted to reframe dialogue around redevelopment to address this ongoing fear.
- 4.) The fate of the neighborhood and the fate of community anchors are linked. As described by India Pierce Lee, the "aha" moment to forge the collaborative partnership was the realization among all anchors that their future was directly intertwined with the conditions of the nearby community.

Cleveland Foundation Cleveland, Ohio



Non-White Rate of Greater University Circle in Cleveland, Ohio



Poverty Rate of Greater University Circle in Cleveland, Ohio



Housing Cost Burden Rate of Greater University Circle in Cleveland, Ohio



Vacancy Rate of Greater University Circle in Cleveland, Ohio



Case #5: University of Louisville, Louisville KY

The neighborhood: East Russell, Louisville KY

The East Russell neighborhood immediately to the west of Louisville's central business district is an example of an inner-city community which has experienced decline and segregation in the second half of the 20th century. A loss of manufacturing and chemical factories took away many of the jobs residents in the neighborhood relied on, so that by 1990, the unemployment rate was 65%. More than half of the households were in poverty, with a median household income of only \$4,800. Crime, homelessness and inadequate housing, illiteracy, and environmental problems plagued the neighborhood. The situation was so bad, in fact, that a USA Today article labeled the neighborhood as one of the ten worst in the country.⁵²

The Anchor: the University responds

Despite these challenges, many could envision renewal based on the neighborhood's assets. There were parks, a large YMCA, many active churches, close proximity to downtown jobs and cultural opportunities, and public transit routes. However, in past efforts, community leaders were consistently excluded from the process of redevelopment, which resulted in some displacement of residents.⁵³ Consequently, community leaders reached out to the City and the University of Louisville for assistance, and the Russell Partnership, led by the University of Louisville, was formed. The university and community leaders secured a community service grant, and in 1993, a neighborhood revitalization partnership, Housing and Neighborhood Development Strategies ("HANDS"), was established. Its name was changed to Sustainable Urban Neighborhoods ("SUN") in 1996.

The role of SUN was to:

- Spearhead the partnership and protect community involvement
- Attract moderate-income families to neighborhood through home ownership opportunities
- Work behind the scenes to build consensus among various organizations
- Improve residents' lives and the condition of the neighborhood without initiating gentrification or dispersing residents
- Provide technical assistance at little to no cost (for example, creating master development plans, and designing, creating and maintaining databases on neighborhood conditions)
- The breadth of the Russell Partnership was wide, and included churches, private developers, the City of Louisville, small builders, local businesses, post-secondary institutions, community groups, East Russell neighborhood residents, and banks that provided below market-rate financing.

The Work

The primary goal of the partnership was to attract moderate-income families to the neighborhood through homeownership opportunities. Partners believed that homeownership was a critical tool in building social capital and resiliency, and that businesses and commercial interests would follow. With a pledge of \$78 million from the City of Louisville, the coalition pursued place-based initiatives to improve existing housing stock and amenities, the revitalization of a large portion of the abandoned housing units, and construction of new homes.

As with many housing revitalization initiatives, it was important for existing homeowners to receive benefits of the investments as well. In this case, the City offered a homestead program that provided housing repairs for the elderly and disabled members of the community. "East Russell is one of only a few Black neighborhoods that has undergone successful urban regeneration and remained a Black neighborhood."

Prior to the project, two-thirds of the housing stock was worth less than \$20,000, and the median assessed value for a house in the neighborhood in 1990 was \$28,350.⁵⁴ However, as a result of the investments, by 2010 the median assessed value had nearly doubled to \$74,000. In 1990, there were 17 houses worth \$60,000 in the neighborhood; by 2010, this number had grown to 354.

Other work included the saving of the Village West apartment complex which the City had planned to demolish, and the provision of supportive services such as high school equivalency courses, a degree from a technical college or enrollment in college classes, computer classes, entrepreneurship training, and homeownership and financial management classes.

THE OUTCOMES (1992-2012)

The work in East Russell has been unique. As John Gilderbloom, faculty at University of Louisville points out, "This is not your typical gentrification case of higher income whites pushing out blacks; rather, [East Russell] remains a Black neighborhood with a greater mixture of incomes. East Russell is one of only a few Black neighborhoods that has undergone successful urban regeneration and remained a Black neighborhood."⁵⁵

Outcomes to date include:

- Increased neighborhood population by 1,500 persons
- 550 housing units once boarded up now available to families
- 47 housing units developed by Habitat for Humanity and other non-profits
- Crime down by 60% since 1990
- Foreclosures the lowest (near 0) of the 170 metro neighborhoods, despite the foreclosure crisis
- Second highest percentage increase of property values among 170 metro neighborhoods
- Vacancy rates significantly lowered
- Walkable and multi-modal community improvements, like bike lanes

- Community gardens, outdoor art, locally-owned stores
- Upscale restaurant and coffee shop opened
- Old Trolley Barn that was an EPA Superfund site now the Kentucky African American Museum
- Yearly household income almost doubled from 1990–2010
- Although there was 10% increase of population joining the workforce in East Russell (compared to 3% in Louisville), unemployment remained the same at 11% between 1990 and 2010. This speaks to the resiliency of the neighborhood amidst ongoing macro-economic challenges.

University of Louisville, Louisville, Kentucky



Non-White Rate of Russell in Louisville, Kentucky



Poverty (%) in Russell in Louisville, Kentucky



Housing Cost Burden Rate of Russell in Louisville, Kentucky



Vacancy Rate of Russell in Louisville, Kentucky



Conclusion: Lessons Learned

These case studies presented here highlight four related themes: sustainability, relationships, program evaluation, and leadership. Institutions committed to the **sustainability** of this work are vested long-term. Sustainability rests on identifying and engaging multiple resources to support projects and program partners over time.

Resources include meaningful **relationships** with the community, which can include civic associations, area commissions, employees, community leaders and neighborhood families. Successful programs have genuine relationships among partners and the community being served. Anchor institutions committed to this work must listen to the community, meet people where they are, respect the community, and develop trust by delivering on promises.

Stakeholders and researchers learn more about community impacts when ongoing and effective program **evaluations** and impact assessments are conducted. Program evaluations provide critical information that helps to sustain the work, build relationships and improve on outcomes. Strong programs have clearly defined goals, timelines, and solid leadership.

Committed **leadership** is a critical component for successful programs. These leaders are "champions" for the program within the institution, among the partners, and in the community. They believe that successful and equitable neighborhood revitalization is a win-win relationship. Leaders also clearly see the connectivity between community needs and the institutional health and well-being of their organizations. This "double bottom line" motivates commitment to these complex and long-term initiatives.

Can anchor institutions achieve development and engagement without displacement?

History has shown that anchor institutions have not always undertaken engagement or community redevelopment activities to benefit those most marginalized in their communities. Poor communities and communities of color may view presentday revitalization programs with suspicion because of a strong record of gentrification and displacement in similar communities from similar efforts.⁵⁶

Given this history and context, successful equitable engagement can be long and difficult, and it requires education on all sides, but it will ultimately result in stronger relationships, better strategies, and a more unified vision for the community, by the whole community.

The case studies here show that redevelopment can happen in a way that everyone benefits. Gentrification is not inevitable. But revitalizing the community without gentrifying requires a sustained, intentional focus on equity and engagement from the very beginning.





Socioeconomic: Poverty Rates





Housing Stress: Percentage Cost Burdened

Housing: Vacant Property Rates



Appendix A: Methodology for Case Studies

The objective of this report was to identify cases of anchor institutions ("Eds and Meds" in particular) in cities of comparable population and/or economic structure to Jacksonville, Florida. We were particularly interested in cases where these institutions were active in supporting equitable community development holistically, through strategies such as affordable housing, employment, job training and readiness programs, and child care services. We sought out case studies where social and racial equity were primary goals for anchor institute-led efforts. We also looked for case studies which produced tangible outcomes (for example, units of housing built) and have had a documented positive impact on nearby communities, particularly in regards to housing interventions.

Background information on the role and effectiveness of anchor institutions was gathered through a review of the literature and semi-structured interviews of national experts on the topic. We also interviewed Ted Howard, Executive Director and Co-Founder, and Steve Dubb, Research Director, of the Democracy Collaborative – an independent non-profit organization that conducts research on anchor institutions. The Kirwan Institute also gleaned lessons learned from anchor institutes with which we have existing partnerships, such as The Ohio State University, Nationwide Children's Hospital, Cincinnati Children's Hospital, the Cleveland Clinic, the University of Kansas Medical Center, and others. Through dialogue with the Jesse Ball duPont Fund and continual re-assessment, we conducted extensive follow-up interviews with the following stakeholders:

Robert Williams

Executive Director, Healthy Homes Anchor: Nationwide Children's Hospital Columbus, OH

Reverend John Edgar

Executive Director, Community-based partner for Healthy Homes & HNHF Anchor: Community Development for All People Columbus, OH

Enrique Flores

Community Development Manager, Washington University Medical Center Redevelopment Corporation *Anchor:* Washington University St. Louis, MO

Brian Phillips

Executive Director, Washington University Medical Center Redevelopment Corporation *Anchor:* Washington University St. Louis, MO

- **JoAnn Stormer** President, First Homes *Anchor:* Rochester Area Foundation in collaboration with Mayo Clinic Rochester, MN
- John Gilderbloom, Ph.D. Director, Sustainable Urban Neighborhoods Anchor: University of Louisville Louisville, KY
- India Pierce Lee Program Director, Neighborhoods, Housing and Community Development Greater University Circle Initiative Anchor: The Cleveland Foundation Cleveland, OH

Appendix B: End Notes and References Cited

- 1. Shapiro, Thomas M., et al., "The Racial Wealth Gap Increases Fourfold," IASP Research and Policy Brief, May 2010.
- See Eugene Boyd, "Community Development Block Grants: Recent Funding History," Congressional Research Service. February 6, 2014. Since 2010, the state of Florida has received almost \$200 million less in HOME and CDBG federal funding. See Douglas Rice, "Senate HUD Funding Bill Reverses Harmful Sequestration Cuts in Housing Assistance," Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. July 19, 2013. Available at http://www.cbpp.org/cms/?fa=view&id=3993
- 3. Bernado, Richie. "2014s Most & Least Recession-recovered Cities," WalletHub. Accessed February 25,2015 at http://wallethub.com/edu/most-least-recession-recovered-cities/5219/
- 4. National Housing Conference and Center for Housing Policy. 2014 Paycheck to Paycheck database and U.S. Census Bureau 2013 American Community Survey. Accessible on-line at: http://www.nhc.org/chp/p2p/one_msa_display.php?msa_code=27260&submit=View+5+Community+Worker+Occupations
- 5. U.S. Census Bureau. 2013 American Community Survey. Community profile for Duval County, FL.
- 6. Neighborhoods in distress erect formidable barriers to healthy child development, producing stressors that can significantly impair children's psychological and physiological health (including skills development, and capacity to learn and thrive). See M.A. Turner and D. Acevedo-Garcia. "Why Housing Mobility? The Research Evidence Today," Poverty and Race Research Action Council Newsletter 14 (January/February 2005).
- 7. Henry Louis Taylor Jr. and Gavin Luter. "Anchor Institutions: An Interpretive Review Essay," Anchor Institutions Task Force, 2013
- 8. Ibid.
- 9. Ibid.
- 10. Dubb, Steve, Sarah McKinley, and Ted Howard. "The Anchor Dashboard: Aligning Institutional Practice to Meet Low-Income Community Needs," The Democracy Collaborative. August 2013. Page v
- 11. Ibid: 1
- Henry Louis Taylor Jr. and Gavin Luter. "Anchor Institutions: An Interpretive Review Essay," Anchor Institutions Task Force, 2013. Page 14
- 13. Ibid: 9-10
- 14. Ibid: 11
- 15. Dubb, Steve, Sarah McKinley, and Ted Howard. "The Anchor Dashboard: Aligning Institutional Practice to Meet Low-Income Community Needs," The Democracy Collaborative. August 2013. Page 1
- 16. Ibid.
- 17. Ibid: 11

- 18. There are many reasons for this, some of which include federal legislation and pressure to achieve national security goals, for example, through the GI Bill (an employment bill that provided an education subsidy to avoid unemployment of returning WWII veterans) and the formation of the National Science Foundation (in response to Cold War priorities). The "federalization" of higher education effectively supplanted the land grant mission of "research for the people of the state," leading to further separation of universities from their local communities. See Steve Dubb and Ted Howard. "Linking Colleges to Communities: Engaging the University for Community Development," The Democracy Collaborative. August 2007. Page 16-17. Others suggest the increasing professionalization and departmentalization of the various disciplines in a university that may not see value in civic engagement.
- Dubb, Steve and Ted Howard. "Linking Colleges to Communities: Engaging the University for Community Development," The Democracy Collaborative. August 2007. Page 54
- 20. Holland, B. A., & Gelmon, S. B. (January 01, 1998). The State of the "Engaged Campus": What have we learned about building and sustaining university-community partnerships? *AAHE Bulletin*, *51*, 2, 3–6.
- 21. Dubb, Steve and Ted Howard. "Linking Colleges to Communities: Engaging the University for Community Development," The Democracy Collaborative. August 2007. Page 54
- 22. Dana Goldstein, "Can Teachers Alone Overcome Poverty? Steven Brill Thinks So," *The Nation*. August 10, 2011. Available at http://www.thenation.com/article/162695/can-teachers-aloneovercome-poverty-steven-brill-thinks-so?page=full#
- Sampson, Robert J., Patrick Sharkey, and Stephen W. Raudenbush, "Durable effects of concentrated disadvantage on verbal ability among African-American children." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105(3): 845–852. October 28, 2007.
- See Dearing, Eric. "Psychological Costs of Growing Up Poor," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1136: 324-332 (2008).
- 25. The biggest negative effects were found on language and memory. Clive Cookson, "Poverty mars formation of infant brains." Online posting. *Financial Times.com*. February 16, 2008. Accessed June 19, 2013 at http://www.ft.com/cms/s/0/62c45126-dc1f-11dc-bc82-0000779fd2ac.html#axzz2ccEJyt9q
- 26. Dr. Larry J. Brown, "The Consequences of Hunger and Food Insecurity for Children: Evidence from Recent Scientific Studies," *Center on Hunger and Poverty, Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University.* June 2002. Citing Alaimo, K., Olson, C.M., & Frongillo, E.A., Jr. (July 2001). Food insufficiency and American school-aged children's cognitive, academic, and psychosocial development. *Pediatrics* 108(1), 44-53. The test looked at children between the ages of 6–11, and 12–16.
- 27. https://www.evernote.com/shard/s4/sh/f75b300b-11e5-4e4d-937ec169bf39e70f/575510e5192e9cd644 4de6cf3868a13b/res/49708e96-5aab-4c42-9543-1c961eedd833/RaceforResults.pdf
- 28. http://www.aecf.org/resources/the-2014-kids-count-data-book/#state-rankings
- Zuckerman, David. "Hospitals Building Healthier Communities: Embracing the anchor mission." The Democracy Collaborative, March 2013. Page 16. See also http://www.shelterforce.org/article/2754/ better_together
- 30. Ibid.
- 31. Ibid.
- 32. Ibid: 15
- 33. Health in All Policies: A Guide for State and Local Government. Created by the Public Health Institute, the California Department of Public Health, and the American Public Health Association. 2013. Page 8
- 34. Ibid: 11
- 35. Ibid: 11
- 36. Zuckerman, David. "Hospitals Building Healthier Communities: Embracing the anchor mission." The Democracy Collaborative, March 2013. Page 15 *citing* J. Michael McGinnis, Pamela Williams-Russo and James R. Knickman, "The Case for More Active Policy Attention to Health Promotion," Bethesda, MD: *Health Affairs*, Vol. 21 No. 2, Mar 2002, 78–93.

- 37. For a good, succinct history of the evolution of the American hospital see David Zuckerman, "Hospitals Building Healthier Communities: Embracing the anchor mission." The DemocracyCollaborative, March 2013. Page 30
- 38. For example, treating someone with diabetes, on average, costs \$6,600 more than treating someone without it. See David Zuckerman, "Hospitals Building Healthier Communities: Embracing the anchor mission." The Democracy Collaborative, March 2013. Page 17
- Zuckerman, David. "Hospitals Building Healthier Communities: Embracing the anchor mission." The Democracy Collaborative, March 2013. Page 17
- 40. Ibid.
- 41. Ibid: 18
- 42. Ibid: 19
- 43. Ibid: 32
- 44. Ibid: 40
- 45. American Community Survey 2007-2011
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Ibid.
- 48. http://cwensi.com/
- 49. Rebecca Cohen and Keith Wardrip. "Should I Stay or Should I Go? Exploring the Effects of Housing Instability and Mobility on Children," Center for Housing Policy, June 2011. Available at http://www. nhc.org/media/files/HsgInstabilityandMobility.pdf
- 50. http://cms.cws.net/content/rochesterarea.org/files/FIRST%20HOMES%20BROCHURE.pdf
- 51. http://kimt.com/2015/01/16/helping-residents-get-starter-homes/
- 52. Gilderbloom, John Ph.D. "Can Renewal Happen without Removal? Case study of a Poor Black Neighborhood on the Rebound." *Forthcoming.*
- 53. Ibid.
- 54. Ibid.
- 55. Ibid.
- 56. For example, the University of Pennsylvania's Penn Alexander School was successful in achieving higher academic results for local students and attracted Penn-affiliated families to live in the local community, but the redevelopment also pushed real estate values beyond affordability, displacing many residents.



KIRWAN INSTITUTE for the Study of Race and Ethnicity

The Ohio State University 33 West 11th Avenue Columbus, Ohio 43201

Phone: (614) 688-5429 Fax: (614) 688-5592

www.KirwanInstitute.osu.edu

f E v /KirwanInstitute